Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Thomas G. Hurst and Louis V. Hurst v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE	
DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT 1	
RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL 2	
STATEMENT OF FACTS	
ARGUMENT 4	
POINT I	
THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S, STATE OF UTAH, MOTION TO DISMISS UPON THEORY OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY	
CASES CITED	
Draper, et al. vs. J. B. and R. E. Walker Incorporated, 121 Utah 456, 244 P.2d 630	
Shaw, et al. vs. Salt Lake County, et al., 119 Utah 50, 224 P.2d 10374, 5, 7	
Thackeray vs. Union Portland Cement Co., 64 Utah 439, 231 Pac. 813	í
STATUTES CITED	
Utah State Constitution, Art. XI, Sec. 1	

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

THOMAS G. HURST and LOUISE V. HURST, his wife,

Flamui

VS.

THE STATE OF UTAH, operating by and through the Department of Highways, and ROBERT V. BURGRAFF CONSTRUCTION COMPANY,

Defendants.

CASE NO. 10.089

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action against the Defendant, State of Utah, for an injunction restraining as a nuisance the operation and maintenance of a gravel pit located near Appellants' home.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court upon a motion to dismiss, made by Defendant. State of Utah, and upon oral argument of the same, granted said motion and Plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the lower court's order granting Defendant's State of Utah, motion to dismiss.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiffs are owners of certain real property located in Orem City, Utah County, State of Utah. On this property, the Plaintiffs have their home, which they maintain for themselves and for other members of their immediate family. Plaintiffs have resided at this location for a number of years and wish to continue to do so if at all possible.

The Defendant, State of Utah, is the owner of certain real property located in Orem City, Utah County, State of Utah, which property is within a very short distance from the Plaintiffs' home. This property owned by the Defendant, State of Utah, is designated by said Defendant as property which may be used by contractors doing work for the State of Utah as a source of supply for their gravel requirements. When the pit is so used, the gravel plant and other construction equipment are moved into the area, and a gravel producing operation begins. At the present time, the property is being used as a source of supply by the Defendant, Robert V. Burgraff Construction Company in performance of a contract for surfacing Interstate 15 for the Defendant, State of Utah. This particular operation as continued for a long period of time, thousands of tons of gravel and waste material having been taken from this area, and many thousands of tons of waste material being stockpiled as a result of this operation within a very short distance from the Plaintiffs' property.

As a result of the operation and maintenance of this gravel pit, the Plaintiffs have found that living at their home has become almost unbearable. During the periods in which the gravel plant itself is in operation, huge amounts of dust and smoke are emitted into the air and are blown over onto the Plaintiffs' property and into their living quarters. In addition to this, even when the plant is not operating, the fact that many thousands of tons of waste material have been stockpiled at such a close proximity to the Plaintiffs' property, if the wind is blowing in the right direction, it also blows great amount of dust and rocks into the Plaintiffs' living quarters and onto their property, making life most unpleasant for them and their family. Not only does the operation of the plant cause great amounts of dust and smoke, but it also generates a great amount of noise, which makes it impossible at times for the plaintiffs to sleep and to carry on a conversation in an ordinary tone of voice. This noise continues during certain periods of time from as early as 6:00 A. M. until 3:00 A. M. the following morning.

The Plaintiffs have been informed by the Defendant, State of Utah, that it contemplates the future and further use of the premises for the production of rock products and that it contemplates designating the pit for further contract and project operations. Under these circumstances, the Plaintiffs feel that the continued operation of this gravel pit is a nuisance which can be enjoined by the courts of this state, notwithstanding the fact that the Defendant is the State of Utah.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S, STATE OF UTAH, MOTION TO DISMISS UPON THEORY OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

The Plaintiffs, in open court, dismissed their claim for damages against the State of Utah, leaving their prayer for relief restricted to injunction. The record will disclose that the Defendant, State of Utah's motion to dismiss was granted by the lower court upon the following basis: That the State of Utah had not consented to be sued, and therefore, the doctrine of Sovereign Immunity precluded this action for injunctive relief. This view of the law, we respectfully submit, is in error.

This action, it must be remembered, is not one seeking damages from the State of Utah, but an action seeking an injunction against the State for maintenance of a nuisance. It is clearly the law of the State of Utah that the operation and maintenance of a gravel pit or quarry can be a nuisance under certain circumstances, particularly where that gravel pit or quarrying operation takes place within a close proximity to a residential area.

Cases decided by this court dealing with the operation of asphalt plants, gravel plants, and various quarrying operations and holding the same to be nuisances are as follows: Shaw, et al. vs. Salt Lake County, et al., 119 Utah 50, 224 Pac. 2nd, 1037; Draper, et al. vs. J. B. and R. E. Walker Incorporated, 121 Utah 456, 244 Pac. 2nd, 630; Thackeray vs. Union Portland Cement Co., 64 Utah 439, 231 Pac. 813.

The record will further disclose that counsel for the Defendant, State of Utah, cited many cases to the lower court dealing with the doctrine of Sovereign Immunity; however, it will be noted that all of those cases were ones dealing with an action brought against the State of Utah for damages, or in the alternative, some form of injunctive relief to force the State of Utah into the payment of damages for taking or damaging particular property involved. That is not the situation that we have in the present case. The Plaintiffs are not seeking damages from the State of Utah, and the injunction which is sought is one to enjoin the maintenance of a nuisance which threatens the health of Plaintiffs and their family and further threatens the peaceful use and enjoyment of their property. The Defendant, State of Utah, failed to cite any authority to the lower court with respect to an action for injunctive relief against the State for the abatement of a nuisance.

The only case decided by the Supreme Court of this state dealing with injunctive relief against a governmental unit for maintenance of a nuisance is a case completely compatible and in complete support of the Plaintiffs' position in this case. That case is Shaw, et al. vs. Salt Lake County, et al., 119 Utah 50, 224 Pac. 2nd 1037. This was an action brought by Plaintiff against the Defendant, a governmental unit, and its officers to enjoin as a nuisance an asphalt plant and operations for extracting and processing gravel, including a rock crusher, in a residential area. The proximate location of this particular area was from Holladay Street on the North to and including homes on 6200 South, and from Wasatch Boulevard on the

East to Highland Drive on the West. This area was formerly known as the Cottonwood District in Salt Lake County. The county had leased a particular piece of property from one Harper to be used as a location for a hot plant and gravel operation. The materials produced at this site were going to be used in resurfacing and surfacing roads in the Salt Lake County area. Before the gravel plant or asphalt plant could be assembled by the Defendant, the Plaintiffs brought the action, and injunction was issued by the trial court in favor of the Plaitiffs. The injunction was upheld by the Supreme Court. The Court first deals with the appropriateness of granting an injunction under these circumstances. They said:

"The purpose of an appeal to a Court of Equity for an injunction against the creation or operation of a nuisance is that the applicant has no speedy and adequate remedy at law. In the present case, the Plaintiff sought to restrain the creation of a nuisance, which would impair their property rights and for which damages would provide no adequate compensation, even assuming they could be obtained. The principle of Sovereign Immunity is not one which allows the sovereign to continue to inflict injury, but rather, one which absolves the sovereign from responding in damages for past injuries. It does not give the sovereign the right to totally disregard the effects of its actions upon the public or adjoining property owners." (Emphasis added)

The Defendants in the Shaw case sought to escape the effects of injunction by claiming that the public good which resulted from the locating of the asphalt plant and gravel operations at this paticular site outweighed any

harm which resulted to the various Plaintiffs. In this regard, the Court said:

"This Court recognizes that in some instances, the public good may outweigh the injuries to private rights and thus allow the Court in its discretion to refuse an injunction, just as it may in cases involving purely private rights. It does not appear, however, in this case, that substantially identical operations could not be engaged in sufficiently close by to effect the same purposes as the proposed operations on the Harper property would effect, and without causing injury to the Plaintiffs. * * *

In the absence of a showing which would justify the invoking of a doctrine of balancing the equities as between public good and private rights, we are constrained to rule against the appellants on this point." (Emphasis added)

It is therefore clear from the above authority, and we emphasize the only authority in the State of Utah that has come down from this Court, that the doctrine of Sovereign Immunity does not shield the State against a suit for injunction to enjoin the operation and maintenance of a nuisance.

We respectfully submit that the Shaw case applies with equal vigor to both the State and County. A review of the statutes creating counties in this state will show that the counties are constitutionally created governmental units. (Article XI, Sec. 1, Utah State Constitution). They exist solely by the same instrument that creates the state government and there is no other charter issued to the county. This Court, when speaking of the immunity involved does not talk of the doctrine as being county im-

munity or municipal immunity, but the doctrine is universally known as sovereign immunity. Sovereign power is equally reposited in the county as in the state and therefore the Shaw case, although it dealt with an injunction against the county, applies with equal force to an injunction sought against the State of Utah.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant respectfully urges this Court to find that the order of dismissal in favor of the Defendant, State of Utah, was erroneous and without basis for the following reason: This Court has clearly and fully set forth in a prior decision the law of this state with respect to suits for injunctive relief against the state. That prior decision held that the doctrine of Sovereign Immunity did not protect the state against a suit for injunctive relief to abate a nuisance. Therefore, this decision controls the situation as found in the present case, and the order of dismissal was in error.