Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Thomas G. Hurst and Louis V. Hurst v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Plaintiffs allege in their complaint two causes of action: (1) That Defendant State of Utah owns a gravel pit next door to plaintiffs' home and that said gravel pit is operated by Defendant Burgraff Construction Company; that the use of the gravel pit is damaging plaintiffs' property and that defendants should be restrained from using the gravel pit. (2) That defendant's operation has been willful and negligent, and unskilled, and creates a nuisance. Therefore, plaintiffs ask for compensatory damage of \$25,000.00 and punitive damage of \$25,000.00.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant State of Utah made a Motion to Dismiss plaintiffs' complaint on the grounds that the court did not

have jurisdiction over the Defendant State of Utah, the State being immune from this type of action and had not consented to be sued. The Defendant, Robert B. Burgraff Construction Company moved to dismiss and in the alternative to strike the part of plaintiff's complaint dealing with punitive damages. The District Court granted Defendant State of Utah its Motion to Dismiss as to the State, and denied Defendant Burgraff Construction Company's Motion to Dismiss as to it, but granted its Motion to Strike the provision as to punitive damages. The Defendant Robert Burgraff Construction Company filed its Answer. Plaintiffs brought this appear from the Lower Court's Order dismissing the complaint against the State of Utah.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiffs seek to have the Lower Court's Order dismissing the complaint against the State of Utah reversed and the State of Utah re-instated as a party defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Respondent agrees with the first two paragraphs of plaintiffs' Statement of Facts and can amplify them somewhat.

The gravel pit has been owned by the State since 1959, and consists of approximately 48 acres. This pit is situated near several other gravel pits, and has been in fairly constant use since it was acquired. The State does not operate the property, but merely makes it available to contractors for their use in the construction of highways.

The Robert Burgraff Construction Company has removed approximately 106,000 cubic yards of material from this site as of September, 1963.

The area is zoned by city ordinance as a residential area, but stipulates that sand, clay or gravel may be removed.

Respondent does not know about the facts stated in the third paragraph of appellants' Statement of Facts, but for the purposes of this appeal assumes them to be so.

As to the fourth paragraph, the State does contemplate the continued lawful use of its property for the purposes for which it was acquired; but does not attempt to draw the legal conclusion that said operation is a nuisance as felt by appellants in their brief, but not alleged by appellants in their complaint.

ARGUMENT POINT I.

UNDER THE FACTS AS ALLEGED IN PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT THE DISTRICT COURT OF UTAH COUNTY HAS NO JURISDICTION OVER THE STATE OF UTAH.

Section 27-12-9, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, reads as follows:

"By its name the commission may sue, and it may be sued only on written contracts made by it or under its authority."

It is a well recognized rule that the State is immune from suit for damages without legislative consent. See Wilkinson v. State, 42 Ut. 483, 134 Pac. 626 (1913); State vs. Fourth District Court, 94 Ut. 384, 98 P.2d 502 (1937); Campbell Building Co. vs. State Road Commission, 95 Ut. 242, 70 P.2d 853 (1937); Bingham v. Board of Education, 118 Ut. 582, 232 P.2d 432; Hjorth v. Whittenburg, 121 Ut. 324, 241 P.2d 907 (1952); State vs. Tedesco, 4 Ut. 2d 31, 286 P.2d 75 (1955); Jopes vs. Salt Lake County, 9 Ut. 2d 297, 243 P.2d 728 (1959); Springville Banking Co. v. Burton, 10 Ut. 2d 100, 349 P.2d 157 (1960); Fairclough vs. Salt Lake County, et al, 10 Ut. 2d 417, 354 P.2d 105 (1960);

State Road Commission vs. Joseph A. Parker, et al, 368 P.2d 585 (1962).

This doctrine was also apparently recognized by the appellants in this action in that they indicate that they have dismissed their claim, or cause of action, wherein they were asking for damages against the State of Utah, leaving their prayer as they state for relief restricted to injunction. This contention will be argued later.

It is also fairly well settled that the State cannot be enjoined by the courts for consequential damages. This theory was set forth particularly in the case of *State vs. Fourth District Court*, supra, in which the plaintiffs sought to enjoin the State Road Commission from constructing a viaduct until plaintiff was compensated for damages, because of the interference, or alleged interference, with air, light and view, and access. The court held:

"The State Road Commission is an agency of the State... Being an unincorporated agency of the State, a suit against it is a suit against the State. The State cannot be sued unless it has given its consent or waived its immunity. Defendants do not argue in their briefs that consent has been given by the State, or that there has been any waiver of the State's immunity from suit. Their argument is that the injunction suit is not against the State. We cannot agree with this argument insofar as the Road Commission as such is concerned. It is an agency of the State, and a suit against it is a suit against the State."

Much of what was said in the Fourth District Court case, supra, has been reversed in later decisions. See Hjorth v. Whittenburg and Springville Banking Co. vs. Burton, supra, but the pronouncement of the court regarding immunity of the State from an injunction proceeding, in regard to this type of action, has not been reversed and stands as a clear statement of the rule in this jurisdiction.

Justice Wolfe amplified the rule when he stated that:

"Neither the Road Commission nor the individual Commissioners could be restrained from inflicting consequential damages." (Hjorth v. Whittenburg, supra).

The rule about injunctions against consequential damages, set forth in the Fourth District Court case, was recently affirmed in the case of the Springville Banking Co. vs. Burton, supra, wherein the plaintiff attempted by mandamus to require members of the Road Commission to compensate alleged damages resulting from highway construction. Our Court stated:

- (1) "Can plaintiff, employing the extraordinary writ of mandamus, compel the state or pay damages when because of sovereign immunity, it could not have done so in a direct suit against the State or the Road Commission?
 - "We believe and hold that the procedure chosen by Plaintiff was an effort indirectly to do that which repeatedly we have held could not be done directly, which is dispositive of this case on that ground." (Springville Banking Co. vs. Burton, supra).

Mandamus in this case was referred to as an injunctive proceeding.

The appellants in the present action claim that these cases are not applicable to the present situation in that this is not a suit for consequential damages, but is a suit to enjoin a nuisance. It is the respondent's contention that this is just another attempt by appellants to try to do indirectly what this court has held continually could not be done directly. There is no question but what the State can be enjoined in regard to a direct taking when they take a piece of property without compensation. To allow a party to bring an action for an injunction in the circumstances in the present case, is to allow a party to bring an action for a consequential damage for the facts alleged by appellants are not such that would indicate anything but a consequential damage.

How do you distinguish between nuisance and a consequential damage? What definitive terms can be utilized to distinguish between a damage to property, when no part thereof is taken, or a damage to property by reason of an alleged nuisance? This court, in the case of *Springville Banking Co. vs. Burton*, supra, in answer to one of the questions, propounded to itself in regard to this case, wherein the Road Commission placed a concrete island in the middle of the main street eliminating "U" turns and "left" turns to plaintiff's property, the following question:

(2) "Was the damage here compensable in any event? . . . As to (2): In this era of the freeway, citizens must yield to the common weal, albeit injury to their property may result. We espouse the notion that if the sovereign exercises its police power reasonably and for the good of all the people, when constructing highways, consequential damages such as those alleged here, are not compensable. On the other hand, if public officials act arbitrarily and unreasonably, causing, for example, total destruction of the means to get in and out of one's property, without any reasonable justification for doing so in the public interest, in a manner that imposes a special burden on one not shared by the public generally, principles of equity no doubt could be invoked to prevent threatened action of such character or to remove any instrumentality born of such conduct. Plaintiff did not allege or assert anything akin thereto."

Justice Henroid in his answer to Justice Wade's dissent, in regard to the *Springville Banking Co. vs. Burton* case, concludes by the statement:

"The United States, since its creation, and the State of Utah, ever since its creation, have never permitted the government to be sued without its consent. This is true whether property is taken for a public use without just compensation or whether the government decides to renege on a contract or obligation. Sovereign immunity is so ingrained in our system of jurisprudence that no case can be found where the government of the United States or the State of Utah was allowed to be sued by implied consent or otherwise for a taking or damaging of property for public use without compensa-

tion. There is no distinction in principle as it related to the United States or the State of Utah."

The question then presents itself — is the type of damage, as alleged in the present action, that which indicates public official acts which are arbitrary and unreasonable, and without any reasonable justification in the public interest, imposed in a manner that creates a special burden on one not shared by the public generally, which would allow a court of equity to invoke its jurisdiction to prevent this type of action?

In the case of Shaw v. Salt Lake County, 119 Ut. 50, 224 P.2d 1037 (1950), the court evidently found the type of action that it felt was within this category, and held that it was a nuisance and subject to injunction. It is the respondent's contention that this case is not compelling upon the present case and is distinguishable from the instant situation —

- (1) The Shaw case was against the county and not against the state, and the court carefully confined its decision to situations involving municipalities. Not a single case is cited or argued in the decision regarding the State or its agencies.
- (2) In the Shaw case the offensive use feared by reason of the gravel pit was the use to be made by the county and not a third party, and the only relief available was against the county. In the instant situation, the Highway Department has simply obtained the gravel location and made it available to the contractor, and it is the contractor, as an independent contractor, who is actually using the site and committing the alleged offensive acts of which the plaintiffs complain. The appellants have an adequate legal remedy, and as such do not have the compelling necessity

for an injunctive-type proceeding. If Defendant Burgraff Construction Company is committing the acts, as alleged by the plaintiffs, such that the contractor is negligent or unskillful in the operation of the gravel pit, they have an adequate legal remedy against the contractor (43 Am. Jur. par. 83, p. 827), and it is apparent that the court has taken this into consideration in that the court did not grant the Defendant Burgraff Construction Company's Motion to Dismiss. And, at the present time the Defendant Burgraff Construction Company has answered.

(3) The Shaw case was an aggravated situation where there were 87 owners in a highly developed residential area, and where there was no apparent adequate remedy at law. In the instant situation only a handful of owners live near this gravel operation, which has been operating for many, many years and only the plaintiffs complain. The fact situation between the Shaw case and the instant situation is not at all comparable.

We are then faced with the problem of what is it exactly that the appellants are asking for? What relief do they want in their action? A careful analysis of their complaint indicates that they have two causes of action stated:

(1) Based upon the defendants' utilization of the property as a gravel pit; the fact that they are using it for mining and excavating; the fact they create noise; the fact that they utilize it early in the morning and late at night; the fact that great amounts of smoke and dust are generated and that the wind can convey it upon the plaintiffs' property, and they claim that the stockpiling of materials is located close to the plaintiffs' property and as such the wind can blow dust and debris upon the plaintiffs' property. In this regard they claim that this type of action damages them

to the extent that they need an order restraining the defendants from the use of their property as a gravel pit. It appears they base this request for the injunction totally upon the damages that results to them from the operation of the gravel pit.

(2) In the second cause of action they rely upon the fact that the operations of the defendants have been willful and negligent, when the defendants were informed and notified of the objections of the plaintiffs', and that the acts and conduct of the defendants in the management of said property has been in such a negligent and unskillful manner as to constitute a nuisance injurious to the health, comfort and safety of the plaintiffs and the enjoyment of their premises. And, in that regard the plaintiffs ask for compensatory damages in the amount of \$25,000.00 and ask for punitive damages in the amount of \$25,000.00.

Now, in their brief, appellants realizing that they cannot sue the State for damages have dismissed their claim for damages against the State of Utah leaving their prayer for relief restricted to injunction. Nowhere in their cause of action, wherein they ask for an injunction, do they mention the word nuisance. The only relief or claim they have for their complaint is that of damages. And, in the cause of action, wherein they claim a nuisance, nowhere do they ask for an injunction. The only claim for relief that they put forth is for a monetary damage.

Appellants admit that the State of Utah is not an active partner in the operation of this gravel pit. They admit that the State is merely the owner and that it lets the premises out to its contractors for use in the building of highways. Nowhere in the First Cause of Action do they state that the Defendant State of Utah is acting arbitrarily or unreason-

ably, nor do they state that it is acting without any reasonable justification for its acts.

Nuisance as defined in 39 Am. Jur. par. 2, p. 280, states:

"The nuisance doctrine operates as a restriction upon the right of an owner of property to make such use of it as he pleases. In legal phraseology the term 'nuisance' is applied to that class of wrongs which arises from the unreasonable, unwarrantable, or unlawful use by a person of his own property and produces such material annoyance, inconvenience, discomfort, or hurt that the law will presume a consequent damage."

Nowhere in the present situation is there any allegation that the State of Utah in utilizing its property is acting unreasonably, unwarrantably or unlawfully. Only in their second cause of action, wherein the plaintiffs ask for compensatory and punitive damages, do the appellants allege that the action of the defendants is negligent and unskillful and that the operation is willfully negligent, and in this case it is hard to see where or why the State of Utah, acting in the capacity of a nominal landlord, could possibly be connected with the management of the property and could be held for any negligent or unskillful manner that would create the nuisance complained of by the plaintiffs herein.

It is solely because of these allegations of the negligent and unskillful operation of the gravel pit by the Defendant Burgraff Construction Company that allows the court to retain jurisdiction of the Defendant Construction Company. If such action is negligent or unskillful, then the contractor does not participate in the sovereign immunity of the State. The subject is discussed in 43 Am. Jur., par. 83, p. 827, wherein it states:

"... injuries necessarily incident to performance of contract; nuisances... as a general rule, a private contractor in the construction of a public improvement under a contract with duly authorized public authorities is not liable for any injury, direct or consequential, to owners of private property that may result as a

necessary incident from the prosecution of the work in a proper manner, which would otherwise amount to a nuisance. The theory is that one who contract with a public body for the performance of public work is entitled to share the immunity of the public body from liability for incidental injuries necessarily involved in the preformance of the contract, where he is not guilty of negligence. In other words, when the act or failure to act which causes an injury is one which the contractor was employed to do, the injury results not from a negligent manner of doing the work, but from the performance thereof, the contractor is entitled to share the immunity from liability which the public enjoys, but he is not entitled to the immunity of the public from liability where the injury arises from the negligent manner of performing the work. Under an agreement on his part to be responsible for any damage or injury resulting from the performance of the work he may not be held liable for results which follow from a performance of the terms of the contract."

It is, therefore, the contention of the Respondent that there is nothing in the complaint that would give to the court jurisdiction. The court acted correctly in dismissing this action against the Defendant, State of Utah.

CONCLUSION

Unless appellants allege such facts to show such arbitrary and unreasonable causing of damage without reasonable justification for doing so in the public interest, in a manner that imposes a special burden on one not shared by the public generally, principles of equity cannot be involved and prevent threatened action of such character or to remove any instrumentality born of such conduct. (Spring-cille Banking Co. v. Burton, supra).

Appellants did not allege or assert anything akin thereto that would take this action from without the general rule that a consequential damage cannot be enjoined.

Further appellants' allegation that they are without legal remedy at law, is not substantiated by their complaint, and they in fact allege that they have a legal remedy at law

against Defendant Burgraff Construction Company in their Second Cause of Action, and having an adequate remedy at law appellants are not entitled to an injunction. (Shaw vs. Salt Lake County, supra). The District Court must have taken these allegations into consideration in not dismissing the complaint against the Defendant Burgraff Construction Company, thereby allowing plaintiffs to pursue their legal remedy for damages.

Therefore, the Court acted correctly in dismissing this action against the Defendant State of Utah.